STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Greenville County

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

---

GARY R. THOMPSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000442

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 01 2020**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Did the PCR court err by ruling, in petitioner's trial for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree (CSC, minor-1st), that petitioner was not prejudiced by defense counsel's failure to preserve for appellate review his pretrial objections to petitioner's prior conviction for CSC, minor-1st and his status as a sex offender being revealed to the jury where petitioner's pre-trial stipulations to those elements of the offense were only meant for sentencing purposes if petitioner were convicted of the underlying offense, and counsel waived the appellate issue by not objecting to publication of the stipulation before the jury?

## STATEMENT

### **Procedural history**

On November 26, 2013, petitioner was indicted by a Greenville County grand jury for disseminating obscenity to a minor and CSC, minor-1st. App. 508-11. On January 13, 2014, petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable D. Garrison Hill and a jury. App. 1. Randall Chambers represented petitioner, and Christy Sustakovitch, assistant solicitor, represented the state. App. 1.

On January 15, 2014, the jury found petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 375, ll. 9-17. Judge Hill sentenced petitioner to life without the possibility of parole for CSC, minor-1st and a consecutive term of five years' imprisonment for disseminating obscenity to a minor. App. 380, ll. 9-23.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. Appellate counsel, Katherine Hudgins, argued the trial court erred in failing to require the state to accept defense counsel's suggested stipulation that petitioner had a prior conviction listed under § S.C. Code 23-3-430 because the name and nature of the crime was not necessary to prove CSC, minor-1st and the jury learning that petitioner had a prior conviction for CSC, minor-1st was more prejudicial than probative. Supp. App. 2.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming petitioner's convictions pursuant to Rule 220(b), SCACR, and *State v. Dicapua*, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007), "finding defense counsel's statement that he had 'no objection' to the introduction of evidence at trial constituted a waiver of any issue he previously had with the same evidence". *State v. Thompson*, Op. No. 2015-UP-524 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 18, 2015). Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing, and the petition was denied. Supp. App. 46-50; 52. Subsequently, petitioner filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in this Court. Supp.

App. 53-66. On November 9, 2016, the petition for writ of certiorari was denied. Supp. App. 68.

Thereafter, petitioner filed an application for PCR on October 13, 2017. App. 382-88. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen on April 17, 2018. App. 398. Susannah C. Ross represented petitioner, and Deshawn Mitchell, assistant attorney general, represented the state. App. 398.

On July 24, 2019, Judge Mullen signed an order denying petitioner's application for PCR. App. 452-82. The court found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to make a contemporaneous objection to the stipulation that petitioner had a prior conviction for CSC, minor-1st and petitioner's status as a sex offender being published to the jury because the probative value of the evidence, that it established an element of the offense, was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. App. 468. The court found petitioner did not demonstrate that he was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to make a contemporaneous objection to the stipulation of petitioner's prior CSC, minor-1st and status as a sex offender being published to the jury. App. 467.

The court also found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to request to bifurcate the trial because there was no authority authorizing bifurcation of criminal charges in this context. App. 474.

On August 8, 2019, counsel for petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, arguing the court's order failed to consider *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 832 S.E.2d 281 (2019), when it found trial counsel was not ineffective for (1) failure to contemporaneously object to the stipulation that petitioner previously had been convicted of CSC, minor-1st and petitioner's status as a sex offender; and (2) failure to request to bifurcate

petitioner's trial so as to avoid the jury knowing of petitioner's prior CSC, minor-1st conviction. In the motion, PCR counsel argued the trial court's Rule 403, SCRE analysis and limiting instruction given in petitioner's case was substantially similar to that in *Cross*. However, defense counsel failed to request that his trial be bifurcated or make a contemporaneous objection when the stipulation was entered into evidence and failed to object to the court's limiting instruction, which amounted to clear error that prejudiced petitioner. Additionally, PCR counsel contended, the order failed to address the fact that a limiting instruction did not cure the overwhelming danger of unfair prejudice arising from the introduction of petitioner's prior CSC, minor-1st conviction and status as a registered sex offender and that the court should alter its order and grant petitioner relief.

On February 26, 2020, Judge Mullen signed an order denying petitioner's motion to alter or amend the judgement in part and granting in part. App. 494-507. The court granted petitioner's motion in part, to analyze petitioner's claims in light of *Cross*. The court denied petitioner's motion and found the *Cross* decision did not require departing from its finding petitioner failed to show prejudice. App. 500. The court found the decision in *Cross* did not stand for the proposition that evidence of a prior conviction was inadmissible but, *Cross* merely regulated the timing and method of the admission of this type of evidence. Therefore, the court found the issue would not have been resolved in petitioner's favor even if defense counsel had objected contemporaneously to the stipulation of petitioner's prior conviction for CSC, minor-1<sup>st</sup>. App. 500-01.

The court found trial counsel was not deficient for failure to request that petitioner's trial be bifurcated because it was unreasonable to expect defense counsel to have anticipated the Court's decision in *Cross*. App. 505. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred ruling, in petitioner's trial for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree (CSC, minor-1st), that petitioner was not prejudiced by defense counsel's failure to preserve for appellate review his pretrial objections to petitioner's prior conviction for CSC, minor-1st and his status as a sex offender being revealed to the jury where petitioner's pre-trial stipulations to those elements of the offense were only meant for sentencing purposes if petitioner were convicted of the underlying offense, and counsel waived the appellate issue by not objecting to publication of the stipulation before the jury.

### **Relevant facts**

In 2007, minor, then six years old, was referred by the Department of Social Services (DSS) to the Children's Advocacy Center in Greenville because of concerns that minor was exhibiting sexualized behavior. App. 209, ll. 8-25. Minor was interviewed and examined by a Dr. Nancy Henderson. Minor's physical exam came back normal, and she indicated during her interview and to Henderson that nothing had happened. App. 141, l. 14-143, l. 8; 212, ll. 3-6.

In 2010, minor, now nine years old, alleged her paternal uncle had sexually abused her and was again referred to the Children's Advocacy Center for an interview and examined by Dr. Henderson. App. 281, l. 17-282, l. 5. During the course of the investigation, minor claimed her mother, Jessica Taylor, instructed her to say her uncle sexually abused her, but in fact it was petitioner, her stepfather, that was sexually abusing her. During the interview, minor told forensic interviewer, Tricia Austin, petitioner had been molesting her for three years including, oral, vaginal, and anal contact. App. 130-134; 146, l. 3-148, l. 7. Minor also alleged petitioner had shown her pornographic videos. App. 135, ll. 5-25.

During pretrial motions, defense counsel moved to preclude the state from prosecuting petitioner pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(2), arguing there was no question petitioner should be prosecuted pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(1) in light of the fact that minor was unquestionably under the age of eleven at the time she was allegedly abused.<sup>1</sup> App. 7-8. Defense counsel contended the state wanted the prior conviction admitted “because it makes it a virtual certainty that they are going to convict [petitioner].” App. 17, ll. 18-22. Defense counsel requested that if the court denied its motion, the defense be allowed to stipulate to the existence of petitioner’s qualifying conviction *in camera* and preclude the state from presenting the stipulation to the jury. App. 13, ll. 2-2-9.

The solicitor, in response, argued the state was entitled to proceed with its prosecution under any theory supported by the evidence just as a prosecution for first-degree burglary involving prior convictions as an aggravating circumstance would be permitted to go forward even if other aggravating circumstances could also be proven aside from the evidence of two or more prior qualifying convictions. App. 9-12.

The trial court denied the motion to preclude the state from prosecuting petitioner under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655 (A)(2) and declined to prevent the jury from hearing the stipulation. The court found the probative value of petitioner’s prior conviction “essential” and found the

---

<sup>1</sup> South Carolina Code § 16-3-655(A) provides:

A person is guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree if: (1) the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is less than eleven years of age; or (2) the actor engages in sexual battery with a victim who is less than sixteen years of age and the actor has previously been convicted of, pled guilty or nolo contendere to, or adjudicated delinquent for an offense listed in Section 23-3-430(C) or has been ordered to be included in the sex offender registry pursuant to Section 23-3-430(D).

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655.

situation in petitioner's case was distinct from the situation in *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172 (1997). The trial judge stated he would give the jury a limiting instruction to cure any potential prejudice. App. 23-25.

During the state's opening statement, the solicitor informed the jury that the evidence would show petitioner had "previously been convicted of a certain crime and is on the sex registry . . . he's been convicted, rather, of the crime of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree." App. 115, ll. 18-23.

Later the stipulation regarding petitioner's prior conviction and sex offender status was admitted without objection from the defense. App. 165. The trial court prefaced the stipulation with the following instruction to the jury:

This stipulation you're about to read can only be used by you, the jury, for a very limited purpose. And that purpose is simply on the issue of whether the state has met its burden of proof as to an element of the crime of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. And you can give this stipulation whatever weight you decide to in that regard. You may not consider this stipulation for any other purpose. Your oath forbids you, for example, from using the evidence of this stipulation as proof of whether [petitioner] committed the acts for which he's on trial here today, except on that issue of that element of the offense. So the law doesn't allow you to use the stipulation as proof of [petitioner's] guilt for any charge that he's on trial for here today, except for deciding whether the state has met its burden of proof about a prior offense.

App. 166-67. Following the limiting instruction, the court read into evidence the stipulation to the jury, which stated, petitioner had been convicted of CSC, minor-1st and was currently on the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry. App. 167.

At the conclusion of trial, the court gave the jury the following instruction:

You have heard evidence that [petitioner] was convicted of a crime other than the one for which he is now on trial. This testimony, if you conclude it is true, may only be considered by you for the limited purpose for which I told you that it could be. And that is whether the state has met its burden of proof as to an element of the crime for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree with a minor. You may not consider it for any other reason or any other purpose. You may not

and must not consider this evidence of the commission of another offense as proof of [petitioner's] guilt of the crime that we are charging--guilt of the crime that he is on trial for here today, other than to the extent I've told you that you could do so.

App. 365.

The jury returned a guilty verdict on both CSC, minor-1st and disseminating obscenity to a minor. App. 375. Petitioner was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole for CSC, minor-1st and a consecutive term of five years' imprisonment for disseminating obscenity to a minor. App. 380, ll. 9-23.

At the PCR hearing, defense counsel Chambers testified that, in hindsight, "it would have been a good idea" to bifurcate the trial but that he had not considered requesting the court bifurcate petitioner's trial. App. 419, ll. 8-11. Chambers said that, at trial, he believed his pretrial motion preserved the issue but admitted that he should have made a contemporaneous objection to the stipulation of petitioner's prior conviction for CSC, minor-1st and his status as a sex offender. Chambers recalled he was "worried" about the prior conviction coming in. Chambers believed that there was no way petitioner could get a fair trial if the jury knew he had been convicted of a prior sex crime. Chambers went further and declared that if petitioner's convictions had been affirmed on appeal because of his failure to properly preserve the issue that petitioner "certainly deserve[d] a new trial." App. 421, l. 21-422, l. 10. Chambers also said he failed to take exception to the limiting instruction given by the trial court and he "probably should have." App. 428, ll. 8-13.

PCR counsel argued that Chambers' failure to request to bifurcate petitioner's trial and failure to contemporaneously object to petitioner's prior conviction and status as a sex offender prejudiced the jury beyond its capability to be fair and impartial in his case. App. 438-442.

## Discussion

Defense counsel was admittedly deficient for his failure to contemporaneously object when the stipulation regarding petitioner's prior conviction for CSC, minor-1st and his status as a sex offender was introduced as evidence. During pretrial motions, defense counsel correctly argued that if the jury learned petitioner had previously been convicted of CSC, minor-1st, its probative value would be substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Defense counsel requested that if the court denied its motion, the defense be allowed to stipulate to the qualifying conviction *in camera* and have not have the evidence go to the jury. The court ruled against defense counsel, but all would not have been lost had defense counsel followed through and contemporaneously objected when the stipulation was admitted.

The PCR court incorrectly found defense counsel's failure to contemporaneously object to this evidence did not prejudice petitioner. If defense counsel had not failed to contemporaneously object to the stipulation, this issue would have been preserved for appellate review and petitioner would have been successful on appeal. *See Milledge v. State*, 422 S.C. 366, 380, 811 S.E.2d 796, 801 (2018) (instructing that the PCR court is to evaluate prejudice when considering an applicant's claim that counsel failed to preserve an issue for appellate review by viewing the "trial court's ruling through the same lens that would be applied on appeal . . .") (citation omitted).

In *State v. Cross*, the Court addressed this issue in a factually similar case. In *Cross*, the Court reversed Cross's convictions for CSC, minor-1st and lewd act on a minor and remanded the case to the circuit court for a new trial, holding the trial court had the authority to grant Cross's motion to bifurcate the trial, and the trial court committed an error of law when it denied Cross's motion to bifurcate the trial. *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 832 S.E.2d 281 (2019).

In that case, the Court balanced the state’s obligation to prove the elements of the crime charged and “the proper application of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence to the introduction of evidence necessary to prove one of those elements.” *Cross*, at 473-74, 832 S.E.2d at 285. The Court reasoned that, while the evidentiary issue was, on the surface, similar to evidentiary issues that are present in first-degree burglary cases, *Cross* was distinct because of the “inherently prejudicial stigma a prior sex-related offense undoubtedly carries.” *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 478, 832 S.E.2d 281, 288 (2019). Additionally, the Court concluded, “the trial court’s limiting instruction did not cure the overwhelming danger of unfair prejudice arising from the introduction of Cross’s 1992 conviction.” *Id.* at 483, 832 S.E.2d 290.

In *Cross*, the Court found the admissibility of “Cross’s prior conviction remains subject to a trial court’s Rule 403 gatekeeping duty to determine *whether and when* that evidence should be admitted.” *Id.* at 477, 832 S.E.2d 287. (emphasis added). Rule 403, SCRE, provides the trial court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading the jury, etc.

Petitioner was indicted in 2013, and his trial in January 2014 was three months after Cross’s October 2013 trial, where Cross moved to bifurcate the trial. The PCR court’s order noted *Cross* had not yet been decided at the time of petitioner’s evidentiary hearing and the fact that it is not a requirement of effectiveness that an attorney be a “trailblazer in the courts’ acceptance of new legal and procedural practice.” However, the requirement that an attorney timely object to evidence is not new, and petitioner’s case might have been decided on appeal in the same manner as Cross’s had defense counsel properly preserved the issue for appeal. *See* Rule 103(a)(1), SCRE.

Like Cross, petitioner was convicted of CSC, minor-1st in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655 (A)(2). Similarly, evidence of petitioner's prior conviction was relevant because it was an element the state had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt. Nevertheless, according to *Cross*, the evidence was still subject to the balancing of Rule, 403, SCRE and, just as the Court determined in *Cross*, evidence of petitioner's prior conviction is not probative of whether petitioner committed criminal sexual conduct in this case. The prejudicial effect of evidence that petitioner had a prior conviction for a sex crime and was a registered sex offender substantially outweighed its probative value.

Unlike Cross, petitioner's convictions were affirmed, and the same appellate issue was found to be waived due to defense counsel's failure to contemporaneously object to the introduction of the stipulation of petitioner's prior CSC, minor-1st conviction and his status as a sex offender.

In post *Cross* days, it is understood that when evidence of petitioner's qualifying conviction(s) are an element of the crime charged and the defense moves to bifurcate the trial, the court must bifurcate. The second phase of a bifurcated trial is substantially the same in that the state would be allowed to present evidence of the qualifying conviction in order to satisfy its burden. However, the jury would not learn of the prior conviction until it had deliberated on whether the state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had committed criminal sexual conduct in the case. As such, the state would likely agree to a stipulation rather than a bifurcated trial, knowing that the Court disfavors the practice of admitting a prior sex conviction before the jury while trying to prove the offense for which the defendant is on trial.

Here, had defense counsel contemporaneously objected when the stipulation of petitioner's prior CSC, minor-1st and his status as a sex offender was admitted in front of the

jury and properly preserved the issue for appellate review there is a reasonable likelihood petitioner would have been successful on appeal.

**CONCLUSION**

By reason of the foregoing argument, a writ of certiorari should be issued to allow full briefing on the issue.



---

Sarah E. Shipe  
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER