RECEIVED

Feb 16 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Greenville County
The Honorable D. Garrison Hill, Trial Judge
The Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000442

GARY R. THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

Petitioner's Statement of Issue Presented

Did the PCR court err by ruling, in petitioner's trial for criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree (CSC, minor-1st), that petitioner was not prejudiced by defense counsel's failure to preserve for appellate review his pretrial objections to petitioner's prior conviction for CSC, minor-1st and his status as a sex offender being revealed to the jury where petitioner's pre-trial stipulations to those elements of the offense were only meant for sentencing purposes if petitioner were convicted of the underlying offense, and counsel waived the appellate issue by not objecting to publication of the stipulation before the jury?

Respondent's Counterstatement of Issue Presented

Did the PCR court correctly find that Petitioner failed to prove that his defense attorney was constitutionally ineffective for not preserving for appellate review the issue of bifurcation when the professional norms prevailing at the time of Petitioner's trial did not require that trial counsel request bifurcation and when trial counsel was not required to anticipate the change in law and procedure made by this Court in its opinion in State v. Cross, 427 S.C. 465, 832 S.E.2d 281 (2019)?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Gary R. Thompson (“Petitioner”) is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections. The Greenville County Grand Jury indicted him during its November of 2013 term for disseminating obscenity to a minor and first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. Petitioner was represented by Randall L. Chambers (“trial counsel”), Esquire. On January 13-15, 2014, Petitioner proceeded to a jury trial with the Honorable D. Garrison Hill presiding. At the conclusion of trial, the jury found Petitioner guilty as indicted. Judge Hill sentenced Petitioner to imprisonment for life without parole for first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and for a consecutive term of five years imprisonment for disseminating obscenity to a minor.

Trial counsel filed a timely notice of appeal. Appellate Defender Kathrine H. Hudgins of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense represented Petitioner on appeal. Petitioner argued that Judge Hill erred in declining to require the State to stipulate that Petitioner had a prior conviction for a crime listed in South Carolina Code Annotated Section 23-3-430. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion. State v. Thompson, Op No. 2015-UP-524 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 18, 2015) (per curiam), cert. denied, State v. Thompson, S.C. Sup. Ct. Order issued November 9, 2016. The remittitur was issued on November 14, 2016.

Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief on October 13, 2017. Respondent made its return on January 17, 2018, moving for a more definite statement and requesting an evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing was convened at the Greenville County Courthouse before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen on April 17, 2018. Petitioner was represented by Susannah C. Ross, Esquire, and Assistant Attorney General DeShawn H. Mitchell represented

Respondent. Judge Mullen issued an Order of Dismissal on July 24, 2019,¹ denying the application and dismissing it with prejudice. Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCR, on August 8, 2019, arguing therein that: (1) each of Petitioner's allegations was shown to be an instance of the constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel, (2) the cumulative effect of the errors alleged by Petitioner constituted the constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel, (3) Judge Mullen failed to consider State v. Cross, 427 S.C. 465, 832 S.E.2d 281 (2019), when finding that trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to object contemporaneously to the stipulation of Petitioner's prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and (4) Judge Mullen failed to consider Cross when finding that trial counsel not constitutionally ineffective for failing to request that Petitioner's trial be bifurcated to avoid the fundamental unfairness of the jury's knowing of Petitioner's prior conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor. Respondent filed a return to Petitioner's motion on September 20, 2019. On February 26, 2020, Judge Mullen issued an order denying Petitioner's motion in part and granting it in part. Specifically, Judge Muller's order granting the motion insofar as the Court had not taken Cross into consideration when issuing the Order of Dismissal but denying the motion because Petitioner failed to prove that he was entitled to post-conviction relief even when Cross was taken into consideration.

Petitioner's appeal follows.

¹ The Order of Dismissal indicated on the final page that it had been issued on July 24, 2018; however, Judge Mullen's later order denying Petitioner's motion to alter or amend in part and granting it in part clarified that this was a typographical error and that the Order of Dismissal was actually issued on July 24, 2019.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2010, the victim (“Victim”), who was nine years old at the time, falsely alleged at the behest of her mother, Jessica Taylor (“Mother”), that Victim’s paternal uncle had sexually abused her. App. 138, 245, 281-82. In response, Victim was referred to the Children’s Advocacy Center in Spartanburg, South Carolina, and met with Tricia Austin, a licensed professional counselor at the center, on June 15, 2010. App. 279, 281-82. During Austin’s meeting with Victim, Victim admitted that her paternal uncle had never sexually abused her. App. 145, 307. However, Victim spontaneously disclosed that she had been sexually abused many times by Petitioner, her stepfather. App. 286-88, 294, 306, 309.

Following Victim’s disclosure, Austin reported the allegations to Lieutenant Ty Miller of the Greenville County Sheriff’s Office, and he began an investigation into the reported sexual abuse. App. 168-68, 288-89. As a result of the investigation, Petitioner and Mother were arrested in September of 2010. App. 175, 177. Lieutenant Miller then obtained a search warrant for Petitioner’s home and discovered pornography consistent with the pornography Victim had described being shown to her by Petitioner during the time period she was being abused. App. 135, 177-80.

Subsequently, Petitioner was indicted for first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and disseminating obscene material to a minor, and he proceeded to trial. App. 46-48. At the outset of trial, trial counsel moved for Judge Hill to preclude the solicitor from prosecuting Petitioner for first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(2) because trial counsel contended there was no question that Petitioner could instead be prosecuted pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(1) in light of the fact that Victim was unquestionably

under the age of the eleven when she was sexually abused. App. 7-8. In response, the solicitor indicated that she was entitled to proceed forward with the prosecution under any theory supported by the evidence just as a prosecution for first-degree burglary involving prior convictions as an aggravating circumstance would be permitted to go forward even if other aggravating circumstances could also be proven aside from the existence of two or more prior qualifying convictions. App. 9-12.

Following the solicitor's remarks, trial counsel again urged Judge Hill to force the solicitor to prosecute Petitioner for a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(1) instead of a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(2). App. 12-14. However, in the event that Judge Hill would not do so, trial counsel asked Judge Hill to permit trial counsel to stipulate to the existence of Petitioner's qualifying prior conviction while also precluding the solicitor from presenting that stipulation to the jury. App. 13-14, 17. In response, the solicitor asserted the South Carolina Supreme Court had previously rejected a similar argument the State could be forced to stipulate to an element in the context of first-degree burglary. App. 14-15. However, the solicitor offered to stipulate to the prior conviction in Petitioner's case while noting the stipulation had to be presented to the jury due to the fact the existence of a prior conviction was an element of the charged offense that necessarily had to be found by the jury. App. 14-15, 18.

After considering the arguments of counsel, Judge Hill declined to preclude the solicitor from prosecuting Petitioner pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-655(A)(2) and declined to bar the jury from hearing the stipulation to which the parties agreed in regard to the existence of Petitioner's prior conviction. App. 23-24. In reaching that decision, Judge Hill found that the probative value of Petitioner's prior conviction was "essential" to prove a violation of the statute

and determined the situation in Petitioner's case was distinguishable from the situation in Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172 (1997), due to the fact the prior conviction necessary to prove first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor in South Carolina had to be for a specific type of offense related to the charged offense. App. 23-24. However, Judge Hill indicated he would provide a limiting instruction to the jury when the stipulation was introduced if one was desired. App. 24-25.

Subsequently, during trial, Victim testified about the abuse she suffered at the hands of Petitioner. App. 130-35. Specifically, Victim stated that Petitioner was physically abusive towards her, her mother, and her three sisters, and she reported that Petitioner began sexually abusing her when she was six years old. App. 130. In regard to the abuse, Victim testified that Petitioner painfully inserted his penis into her vagina and anus on numerous occasions, performed oral sex on her, and forced her to perform oral sex on him multiple times, and showed her "a bunch" of pornographic films depicting women engaged in sexual acts. App. 130-35. Furthermore, Victim stated that Petitioner threatened to kill her or hurt her mother if she did not engage in the sexual acts with him, and she indicated she did not reveal the abuse earlier because she was frightened of Petitioner. App. 136.

At the conclusion of Victim's testimony, the assistant solicitor moved to admit the stipulation regarding Petitioner's prior conviction and publish it to the jury. App. 165. In response, trial counsel stated: "[T]he Defense has no objection, Your Honor." App. 165-66. Thereafter, the stipulation was admitted into evidence without objection, and Judge Hill presented the following limiting instructions to the jury:

Now, this particular stipulation, before it is read to you, I want to instruct you on something else. And you'll, also, recall that I made what probably seemed a curious

statement earlier as well.² And that is that you can use some evidence for one purpose and one purpose only, and not for any other purpose. And this stipulation you're about to read can only be used by you, the jury, for a very limited purpose. And that purpose is simply on the issue of whether the State has met its burden of proof as to an element of the crime of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree. And you can give this stipulation whatever weight you decide to in that regard. You may not consider this stipulation for any other purpose. Your oath forbids you, for example, from using the evidence of this stipulation as proof of whether [Petitioner] committed the acts for which he's on trial here today, except on that issue of that element of the offense. So the law doesn't allow you to use the stipulation as proof of [Petitioner's] guilt for any charge that he's on trial for here today, except for deciding whether the State has met its burden of proof about a prior offense.

App. 166-67. Following those limiting instructions, Judge Hill presented the agreed-upon stipulation to the jurors, which instructed them that Petitioner “[had] been convicted of criminal sexual conduct with a minor first degree, an offense listed pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 23-3-430(C), and [was] currently on the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry.” App. 167. Judge Hill then again instructed the jurors they could only consider the stipulation that had just been presented to them for the limited purpose identified to them and not for any other purpose. App. 167.

As the trial continued, Lieutenant Miller testified about his investigation into the reported sexual abuse, and Wiley Garrett, a therapist assigned to work with Victim after she disclosed the sexual abuse, noted Victim was exhibiting symptoms of trauma subsequent to the abuse. App. 170-75, 184, 192-93. Additionally, Dr. Nancy Henderson, a board-certified child abuse pediatrician, testified about her physical examination of Victim after the abuse was revealed, indicated Victim

² Regarding that “curious statement,” Judge Hill had earlier stated to the jurors during his preliminary instructions: “Now, some evidence can be used for limited purposes. And I’ll tell you more about that later. But simply because something comes into evidence for one purpose doesn’t mean you can use it for other purposes. So bear that in mind as well. And remember, too, that this is an important trial for both sides, of course.” App. 109.

disclosed during the examination she was sexually abused between the ages of six and nine, and stated the examination results were normal. App. 205-06, 212, 215-18. However, Dr. Henderson noted normal examination results were extremely common in sexual abuse cases and did not mean that no sexual abuse had occurred due to the fact injuries to the genital area heal very rapidly. App. 217-18, 229. Furthermore, Mother, who had earlier pleaded guilty to unlawful conduct towards a child, testified for the prosecution, and indicated that Petitioner treated Victim very differently from her other children, noted Victim and her other children began to exhibit sexualized behavior after Petitioner moved into their home, and stated she awakened one time and saw Petitioner on the floor with his face at Victim's crotch. App. 230-31, 239-45, 272. Mother also candidly acknowledged that she instructed Victim to falsely accuse Victim's paternal uncle of sexually assaulting her, and she admitted Victim informed her that Petitioner was touching her genital area and that Mother did not do anything in response.³ App. 241, 245. Finally, following Mother's testimony, Austin testified about her meetings with Victim and confirmed that Victim disclosed she had been sexually abused by Petitioner. App. 286-88, 294, 306, 309.

Thereafter, at the conclusion of the evidentiary phase of trial, the parties rested their cases and presented their closing arguments to the jury, and Judge Hill instructed the jury on the applicable law. App. 319-72. As part of his jury instructions, Judge Hill advised the jurors that they must apply the law as he provided it to them and informed them they must follow all of his instruction. App. 360-61. Furthermore, in regard to the evidence of Petitioner's prior conviction, Judge Hill instructed the jury:

³ During her testimony, Mother also indicated Appellant wanted her to wear her hair in ponytails, pretend to be a little girl, and call him "Daddy" when they engaged in sexual intercourse. (R. p. 229).

You have heard evidence that [Petitioner] was convicted of a crime other than the one for which is now on trial. This testimony, if you conclude it is true, may only be considered by you for the limited purpose for which I told you that it could be. And that is whether the State has met its burden of proof as to an element of the crime for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree with a minor. You may not consider it for any other reason or any other purpose. You may not and must not consider this evidence of the commission of another offense as proof of [Petitioner's] guilt of the crime that we are charging – guilt of the crime that he is on trial for here today, other than to the extent I've told you that you could do so.

App. 365.

Subsequently, at the conclusion of trial, the jury convicted Petitioner as indicted. App. 375.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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